ATTACHMENT S

STORMWATER PROVISIONS, MONITORING, AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

November 2017

Contents

I.	STANDARD PROVISIONS – PERMIT COMPLIANCE	
	A. Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP)	S-2
	B. Site Map	S-2
	C. List of Industrial Materials	S-2
	D. Potential Pollutant Sources	
	E. Assessment of Potential Pollutant Sources	S-3
	F. Minimum Best Management Practices (BMPs)	
	G. Action Levels and Advanced BMPs	S-6
	H. BMP Descriptions	S-6
	I. Annual Comprehensive Facility Compliance Evaluation	
II.	STANDARD PROVISIONS – MONITORING	
	A. Visual Observations	
	1. Monthly Visual Observations	
	2. Sampling Event Visual Observations	S-7
	3. Visual Observation Records	
	4. SWPPP Revisions	
	B. Sampling and Analysis	
ш	L STANDARD PROVISIONS - REPORTING	
	A. Annual Stormwater Report.	
IV	/. DEFINITIONS	

STORMWATER PROVISIONS

APPLICABILITY

These stormwater provisions only apply to facilities that do not direct all stormwater flows from process areas to a wastewater treatment plant headworks or do not enroll in NPDES Permit No. CAS000001 (General Permit for Stormwater Discharges Associated with Industrial Activities).

I. STANDARD PROVISIONS - PERMIT COMPLIANCE

- **A. Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP)**. The Discharger shall prepare a SWPPP that includes the following elements:
 - 1. Facility name and contact information;
 - 2. Site map;
 - 3. List of industrial materials;
 - 4. Description of potential pollution sources;
 - 5. Assessment of potential pollutant sources;
 - 6. Minimum Best Management Practices;
 - 7. Advanced Best Management Practices, if applicable;
 - 8. Monitoring implementation plan;
 - 9. Annual comprehensive facility compliance evaluation; and

10. Date SWPPP initially prepared and dates of each SWPPP amendment.

The SWPPP shall be designed in accordance with good engineering practices to achieve the following objectives:

- Identify and evaluate all pollutant sources that may affect stormwater discharge quality;
- Identify, assign, and implement control measures and management practices to reduce or prevent pollutants in stormwater discharges; and
- Identify and describe conditions or circumstances that may require revisions to the SWPPP.

The SWPPP shall be retained onsite, revised whenever necessary, and made available upon request of any Regional Water Board representative. The SWPPP may be combined with the Spill Prevention Plan (see Attachment G Provision I.C.2).

- **B.** Site Map. The Discharger shall prepare one or more site maps that include notes, legends, a north arrow, and other data as appropriate to ensure the map is clear, legible and understandable, including the following:
 - 1. The facility boundary, stormwater drainage areas within the facility boundary, and portions of any drainage area impacted by discharges from surrounding areas (the maps shall include the flow direction of each drainage area, on-facility surface water bodies, areas of soil erosion, and locations of nearby water bodies [e.g., rivers, lakes, wetlands, etc.] or municipal storm drain inlets that may receive the facility's industrial stormwater discharges and authorized non-stormwater discharges);
 - **2.** Locations of stormwater collection and conveyance systems, associated discharge locations, and direction of flow (the maps shall include sample locations if different than the discharge locations);
 - **3.** Locations and descriptions of structural control measures (e.g., catch basins, berms, detention ponds, secondary containment, oil/water separators, diversion barriers, etc.) that affect industrial stormwater discharges, authorized non-stormwater discharges, and run-on;
 - **4.** Identification of all impervious areas, including paved areas, buildings, covered storage areas, or other roofed structures;
 - 5. Locations where materials are directly exposed to precipitation and the locations where identified significant spills or leaks have occurred; and
 - 6. Areas of industrial activity (the maps shall identify all industrial storage areas and storage tanks, shipping and receiving areas, fueling areas, vehicle and equipment storage and maintenance areas, material handling and processing areas, waste treatment and disposal areas, dust or particulate generating areas, cleaning and material reuse areas, and other areas of industrial activity that may have potential pollutant sources).
- **C. List of Industrial Materials.** The SWPPP shall contain a list of industrial materials handled at the facility and the locations where each material is stored, received, shipped, and handled, as well as the typical quantities and handling frequency.
- **D.** Potential Pollutant Sources. The Discharger shall describe and assess potential stormwater pollutant sources, including the following:
 - **1. Industrial Processes.** Industrial processes may include manufacturing, cleaning, maintenance, recycling, and disposal. The SWPPP shall describe the type, characteristics, and approximate quantity of industrial materials used; and areas protected by containment structures and the corresponding containment capacity.
 - 2. Material Handling and Storage Areas. The SWPPP shall describe the type, characteristics, and quantity of industrial materials handled or stored; shipping, receiving, and loading procedures; spill and leak prevention and response procedures; and areas protected by containment structures and the corresponding containment capacity.

- **3.** Dust and Particulate Generating Activities. The SWPPP shall describe the discharge locations, source type, and characteristics of the dust or particulate pollutant.
- 4. Significant Spills and Leaks. The Discharger shall evaluate the facility for areas where spills and leaks can occur. The SWPPP shall list any industrial materials spilled or leaked in significant quantities and discharged from the facility's stormwater conveyance system within the previous five-years, including but not limited to any chemicals identified in 40 C.F.R. section 302 as reported on U.S. EPA Form R, and any oil and hazardous substances discharged in excess of reportable quantities (40 C.F.R. §§ 110, 117, and 302). The SWPPP shall also list any industrial materials spilled or leaked in significant quantities that had the potential to be discharged from the facility's stormwater conveyance system within the previous five years. For each listed industrial material spill and leak, the SWPPP shall include the location, characteristics, and approximate quantity of the material spilled or leaked; the approximate quantity of the material discharged; the cleanup or remedial actions taken or planned; the approximate quantity of remaining material that could be discharged; and the preventive measures taken to ensure that spills or leaks do not reoccur.
- **5.** Non-Stormwater Discharges. The SWPPP shall describe all non-stormwater discharges, including the source, quantity, frequency, characteristics, and associated drainage area, and indicate whether these discharges are authorized or unauthorized.
- 6. Erodible Surfaces. The SWPPP shall describe any facility locations where soil erosion may be caused by industrial activity, contact with stormwater, authorized and unauthorized non-stormwater discharges, or run-on from areas surrounding the facility.
- **E.** Assessment of Potential Pollutant Sources. The SWPPP shall include a narrative assessment of all areas of industrial activity with potential industrial pollutant sources, including, at a minimum, the following:
 - 1. Facility areas with likely sources of pollutants;
 - 2. Pollutants likely to be present in industrial stormwater discharges;
 - **3.** Approximate quantity, physical characteristics (e.g., liquid, powder, solid, etc.), and locations of each industrial material handled, produced, stored, recycled, or disposed;
 - 4. Degree to which the pollutants associated with such materials may be exposed to, and mobilized by, contact with stormwater;
 - 5. Direct and indirect pathways by which pollutants may be exposed to stormwater;
 - 6. Sampling, visual observation, and inspection records;
 - **7.** Effectiveness of existing BMPs to reduce or prevent pollutants in industrial stormwater discharges; and
 - **8.** Estimated effectiveness of implementing, to the extent feasible, minimum BMPs to reduce or prevent pollutants in industrial stormwater discharges.

Based upon the assessment, the SWPPP shall identify facility areas where the minimum BMPs described in Provision I.F, below, will not adequately reduce or prevent pollutants in stormwater discharges and any necessary advanced BMPs, as described in Provision I.G, below, for those areas.

- **F.** Minimum Best Management Practices (BMPs). The Discharger shall, to the extent feasible, implement and maintain the following BMPs:
 - 1. Good Housekeeping. The Discharger shall do the following:
 - **a.** Observe all outdoor areas associated with industrial activity; including stormwater discharge locations, drainage areas, conveyance systems, waste handling and disposal areas, and perimeter areas affected by off-facility materials or stormwater run-on to determine housekeeping needs. Any identified debris, waste, spills, tracked materials, or leaked materials shall be cleaned and disposed of properly;
 - **b.** Minimize or prevent material tracking;
 - c. Minimize dust generated from industrial materials or activities;
 - **d.** Ensure that all facility areas impacted by rinse or wash waters are cleaned as soon as possible;
 - e. Cover all stored industrial materials that can be readily mobilized by contact with stormwater;
 - **f.** Contain all stored non-solid industrial materials or wastes (e.g., particulates, powders, shredded paper) that can be transported or dispersed by the wind or contact with stormwater;
 - **g.** Prevent disposal of any rinse or wash waters or industrial materials into the stormwater conveyance system;
 - **h.** Minimize stormwater discharges from non-industrial areas (e.g., stormwater flows from employee parking area) that contact industrial areas of the facility; and,
 - **i.** Minimize authorized non-stormwater discharges from non-industrial areas (e.g., potable water, fire hydrant testing) that contact areas of the sanitary or industrial facility.
 - Preventative Maintenance. The Discharger shall (1) identify all equipment and systems used outdoors that may spill or leak pollutants, (2) observe the identified equipment and systems to detect leaks or identify conditions that may result in the development of leaks, (3) establish an appropriate schedule for maintenance of identified equipment and systems, and (4) establish procedures for prompt maintenance and repair of equipment and maintenance of systems when conditions exist that may result in the development of spills or leaks.
 - **3.** Spill and Leak Prevention and Response. The Discharger shall (1) establish procedures and controls to minimize spills and leaks; (2) develop and implement spill and leak response procedures to prevent industrial materials from discharging through the stormwater

conveyance system (spilled or leaked industrial materials shall be cleaned promptly and disposed of properly); (3) identify and describe all necessary and appropriate spill and leak response equipment, locations of spill and leak response equipment, and spill or leak response equipment maintenance procedures; and (4) identify and train appropriate spill and leak response personnel.

- 4. Material Handling and Waste Management. The Discharger shall do the following:
 - **a.** Prevent or minimize handling of industrial materials or wastes that can be readily mobilized by contact with stormwater during a storm;
 - **b.** Contain all stored non-solid industrial materials or wastes (e.g., particulates, powers, shredded paper) that can be transported or dispersed by the wind or contact with stormwater;
 - **c.** Cover industrial waste disposal containers and industrial material storage containers that contain industrial materials when not in use;
 - **d.** Divert run-on and stormwater generated from within the facility away from all stockpiled materials;
 - e. Clean all spills of industrial materials or wastes that occur during handling in accordance with spill response procedures; and,
 - **f.** Observe and clean, as appropriate, any outdoor material or waste handling equipment or containers that can be contaminated by contact with industrial materials or wastes.
- 5. Erosion and Sediment Control. The Discharger shall (1) implement effective wind erosion controls; (2) provide effective stabilization for inactive areas, finished slopes, and other erodible areas prior to a forecasted storms; (3) maintain effective perimeter controls and stabilize site entrances and exits to sufficiently control discharges of erodible materials; and (4) divert run-on and stormwater generated from within the facility away from erodible materials.
- 6. Employee Training. The Discharger shall ensure that all personnel implementing the SWPPP are properly trained with respect to BMP implementation, BMP effectiveness evaluations, visual observations, and monitoring activities. The Discharger shall identify which personnel need to be trained, their responsibilities, and the type of training they are to receive and maintain documentation of completed training and the personnel that received the training with the SWPPP.
- 7. Quality Assurance and Record Keeping. The Discharger shall (1) develop and implement management procedures to ensure that appropriate personnel implement all SWPPP elements; (2) develop methods of tracking and recording BMP implementation; and (3) maintain BMP implementation records, training records, and records related to any spills and clean-up related response activities for a minimum of five years.

G. Action Levels and Advanced BMPs. If the Discharger samples total suspended solids (TSS), oil and grease, and pH in excess of an action level in Table B, the Discharger shall review the SWPPP to identify appropriate modifications to existing BMPs or additional BMPs as necessary to reduce pollutant discharge concentrations to levels below the action level. The Discharger shall revise the SWPPP accordingly before the next storm, if possible, or as soon as practical, and in no event later than three months following the exceedance.

Parameter	Unit	Instantaneous Action Level	Annual Action Level
Total Suspended Solids	mg/L	400	100
Oil & Grease	mg/L	25	15
pН	standard units	6.0-9.0 ^[1]	

Table AStormwater Action Levels

Footnote:

^[1] Values below or above this range require action.

If, upon subsequent monitoring, the pollutants measured in Table A continue to exceed their respective action levels, the Discharger shall further evaluate its BMPs and update its SWPPP accordingly to include advanced BMPs in addition to the minimum BMPs described in Provision I.F, above. The Discharger shall, to the extent feasible, implement and maintain any advanced BMPs identified pursuant to Provision I.E.8, above, as necessary to reduce or prevent discharges of pollutants in stormwater discharges in a manner that reflects best industry practice considering technological availability and economic practicability and achievability. Advanced BMPs may include one or more of the following:

- 1. Exposure Minimization BMPs. These include storm resistant shelters (either permanent or temporary) that prevent the contact of stormwater with identified industrial materials.
- 2. Stormwater Containment and Discharge Reduction BMPs. These include BMPs that divert, infiltrate, reuse, contain, retain, or reduce the volume of stormwater runoff.
- **3.** Treatment Control BMPs. These include mechanical, chemical, biologic, or any other treatment technology that will meet the treatment design standard.
- **H. BMP Descriptions.** The SWPPP shall identify each BMP being implemented at the facility, including the following:
 - 1. The pollutants the BMP is designed to reduce or prevent;
 - 2. The frequency, times of day, or conditions when the BMP is scheduled for implementation;
 - **3.** The locations within each area of industrial activity or industrial pollutant source where the BMP shall be implemented;
 - 4. The individual responsible for implementing the BMP;

- **5.** The procedures, including maintenance procedures, and instructions to implement the BMP effectively; and
- 6. The equipment and tools necessary to implement the BMP effectively.
- I. Annual Comprehensive Facility Compliance Evaluation. The Discharger shall conduct one annual facility evaluation for each reporting year (July 1 to June 30). If the Discharger conducts an annual evaluation fewer than 8 months, or more than 16 months, after it conducts the previous annual evaluation, it shall document the justification for doing so. The Discharger shall revise the SWPPP, as appropriate, and implement the revisions within 90 days of the annual evaluation. At a minimum, the annual evaluations shall consist of the following:
 - **1.** A review of all sampling, visual observation, and inspection records conducted during the previous reporting year;
 - 2. An inspection of all areas of industrial activity and associated potential pollutant sources for evidence of, or the potential for, pollutants entering the stormwater conveyance system;
 - **3.** An inspection of all drainage areas previously identified as having no exposure to industrial activities and materials;
 - 4. An inspection of equipment needed to implement the BMPs; and
 - **5.** An assessment of any other factors needed to comply with the requirements of the Annual Stormwater Report (see Provision III.A, below).

II. STANDARD PROVISIONS – MONITORING

A. Visual Observations

1. Monthly Visual Observations

- **a.** At least once per month, the Discharger shall visually observe each drainage area for the following:
 - i. The presence or indication of prior, current, or potential unauthorized non-stormwater discharges and their sources;
 - ii. Authorized non-stormwater discharges, sources, and associated BMPs; and
 - **iii.** Outdoor industrial equipment and storage areas, outdoor industrial activities areas, BMPs, and all other potential sources of industrial pollutants.
- **b.** The monthly visual observations shall be conducted during daylight hours of scheduled facility operating hours and on days without precipitation.
- **c.** The Discharger shall provide an explanation in the Annual Stormwater Report for uncompleted monthly visual observations (see Provision III.A, below).

- 2. Sampling Event Visual Observations. Sampling event visual observations shall be conducted at the same time sampling occurs at a discharge location. At each discharge location where a sample is obtained, the Discharger shall observe the discharge of stormwater associated with industrial activity.
 - **a.** The Discharger shall ensure that visual observations of stormwater discharged from containment sources (e.g. secondary containment or storage ponds) are conducted at the time that the discharge is sampled.
 - **b.** If the Discharger employs volume-based or flow-based treatment BMPs, it shall sample any bypass that occurs while the visual observations and sampling of stormwater discharges are conducted.
 - **c.** The Discharger shall visually observe and record the presence or absence of floating and suspended materials, oil and grease, discolorations, turbidity, odors, trash/debris, and sources of any discharged pollutants.
 - **d.** If a discharge location is not visually observed during the sampling event, the Discharger shall record which discharge locations were not observed during sampling or that there was no discharge from the discharge location.
 - e. The Discharger shall provide an explanation in the Annual Stormwater Report for uncompleted sampling event visual observations (see Provision III.A, below).
- **3.** Visual Observation Records. The Discharger shall maintain records of all visual observations. Records shall include the date, approximate time, locations observed, presence and probable source of any observed pollutants, name of persons who conducted the observations, and any response actions and/or additional SWPPP revisions necessary in response to the visual observations.
- 4. SWPPP Revisions. The Discharger shall revise its BMPs as necessary when the visual observations indicate pollutant sources have not been adequately addressed.

B. Sampling and Analysis

- The Discharger shall collect and analyze stormwater samples from two qualifying storm events within the first half of each reporting year (July 1 to December 31), and two qualifying storm events within the second half of each reporting year (January 1 to June 30). A "qualifying storm event" is a precipitation event that (1) produces a discharge for at least one drainage area, and (2) is preceded by 48 hours with no discharge from any drainage area.
- 2. The Discharger shall collect samples from each drainage area at all discharge locations. Samples shall be (i) representative of stormwater associated with industrial activities and any commingled authorized non-stormwater dischargers; or (ii) associated with the discharge of contained stormwater.
- **3.** Samples from each discharge location shall be collected within four hours of (i) the start of the discharge; or (ii) the start of facility operations if the qualifying storm event occurs within

the previous 12-hour period (e.g., for storms with discharges that begin during the night for facilities with daytime operating hours). Sample collection is required during scheduled facility operating hours and when sampling conditions are safe.

a. The Discharger shall analyze all collected samples for (i) specific conductance, (ii) TSS, (iii) oil and grease, and (iv) pH. On a facility-specific basis, the Discharger shall also analyze additional parameters that serve as indicators of the presence of all industrial pollutants identified in the pollutant source assessment. These additional parameters may be modified (added or removed) in accordance with any updated SWPPP pollutant source assessment.

III.STANDARD PROVISIONS – REPORTING

- **A. Annual Stormwater Report.** The results of the Discharger's Annual Comprehensive Facility Compliance Evaluation shall be reported in the Annual Stormwater Report to the Regional Water Board no later than July 30. The Discharger shall include in the Annual Stormwater Report the following:
 - **1.** A compliance checklist that indicates whether the Discharger has complied with or addressed all applicable requirements of the SWPPP;
 - **2.** An explanation for any non-compliance requirements within the reporting year, as indicated in the compliance checklist;
 - **3.** An identification, including page numbers and sections, of all revisions made to the SWPPP within the reporting year; and
 - **4.** The date(s) of the annual evaluation.

IV. DEFINITIONS

- **A.** Authorized Non-Stormwater Discharges non-stormwater discharges are authorized if they meet the following conditions:
 - 1. Fire-hydrant and fire prevention or response system flushing;
 - **2.** Potable water sources, including potable water related to the operation, maintenance, or testing of potable water systems;
 - **3.** Drinking fountain water and atmospheric condensate, including refrigeration, air conditioning, and compressor condensate;
 - **4.** Irrigation drainage and landscape watering, provided that all pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers have been applied in accordance with manufacturer's labels;
 - 5. Uncontaminated natural springs, groundwater, foundation drainage, footing drainage;
 - 6. Seawater infiltration where the seawater is discharged back into the source; or,

- 7. Incidental windblown mist from cooling towers that collects on rooftops or adjacent portions of the facility, but not intentional discharges from cooling towers (e.g., "piped" cooling tower blowdown or drains).
- **B.** Stormwater stormwater runoff, snow melt runoff, and surface runoff and drainage, excluding infiltration and runoff from agricultural land.